FILED

SID J. WHITE

SEP 24 1990

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By _____
Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GARY GOULD, :
 :
 Petitioner, :
 :
 vs. :
 :
 STATE OF FLORIDA, :
 :
 Respondent. :
 _____ :

Case No. 75,833

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA
SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0143265

ANDREA NORGARD
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

Public Defender's Office
Polk County Courthouse
P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD
Bartow, FL 33830
(813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, GARY GOULD, was the Defendant and Appellant in the appended Gould v. State, 15 F.L.W. 730 (Fla. 2d DCA March 14, 1990), review granted, Case No. 75,833 (Fla. 1990). Respondent, the State of Florida was the prosecuting authority.

References to the record on appeal will be designated "(R)."

All emphasis, unless otherwise indicated, will be supplied by Petitioner.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Case In Chief

On March 13, 1989, the State Attorney for the Sixth Judicial Circuit, in and for Pasco County, Florida, filed an amended information charging Petitioner, GARY GOULD, with kidnaping contrary to section 787.01, Florida Statutes (1986), five counts of sexual battery contrary to section 794.011(3), Florida Statutes (1986) and section 794.011(4)(a), Florida Statutes (1986), and three counts of battery contrary to section 784.03, Florida Statutes (1986) against T [REDACTED] S [REDACTED]. (R414-416) The charged offenses occurred in October of 1986. (R414-416)

On March 6, 1987, a notice of Williams Rule evidence was filed. (R426-427) The court denied the defense motion to strike. (R431-432)

Petitioner was tried by jury on the amended information on July 6 and 7, 1987.

T [REDACTED] S [REDACTED] and her son lived with Petitioner, Gary Gould, during October of 1986. On the evening of October 25, she returned from work and Mr. Gould left to get beer. (R33-34) He returned home with two six-packs. (R35-36)

T [REDACTED] went into the bedroom, and a short time later Mr. Gould came into the bedroom yelling and proceeded to tape T [REDACTED] hands and feet with duct tape. (R38-39) Mr. Gould slapped her five or six times and stated that he hated her and was going to cut off her hair, which he then proceeded to do. (R39-40) Mr. Gould then

made her hop into the bathroom where he began shaving her head. (R40-41) Mr. Gould then removed the tape and tied Ms. S█████'s hands to the bathroom fixtures with bedsheets. (R42)

Mr. Gould tore off her underwear and struck her again. (R42-43) Mr. Gould then left the bathroom and returned with a rubber glove and a package of hotdogs. Mr. Gould inserted the hotdogs into Ms. S█████'s vagina and rectum. (R43) Ms. S█████ resisted these activities. She told him to stop and tried to talk to him. (R101) She told Mr. Gould her hands hurt and he loosened the bindings. (R101) Mr. Gould then urinated on T█████ and left the bathroom. (R44-46)

Mr. Gould returned and blindfolded T█████ He then beat her with a wooden spatula until it broke and inserted the spatula into her vagina and rectum. (R45-47) Ms. S█████ resisted the attack "very much." She screamed several times and asked Mr. Gould to "please stop." (R47,106) Ms. S█████ was also struck in the face with what she believed was a hammer. (R47) She told Mr. Gould she did not want to die and asked him to stop. (R49) Mr. Gould then untied her and held a knife to her throat, telling her to perform oral sex on him. (R51-52)

He took T█████ into the bedroom an approximate distance of five to ten feet, and again made her perform oral sex after binding her hands. (R53,108-109) Mr. Gould then fell asleep on the bed.

T█████ stated she was afraid of Mr. Gould and did not resist more because she was afraid for her safety and for her child's. After Mr. Gould fell asleep, T█████ got up, got her child,

and went to a neighbor's home and then to the police. (R54) Officer Rickus believed Mr. Gould had been drinking, but did not believe he was intoxicated. (R135-13) After Miranda, Mr. Gould stated had and T [REDACTED] had gotten into a fight and he had pulled her into the bathroom and pushed her against the shower. (R137) Mr. Gould stated he knew he had committed a serious crime. (R137)

T [REDACTED] testified Mr. Gould's attack was unprovoked and that while Mr. Gould had been drinking, he was not intoxicated. (R137)

B. Williams Rule Testimony

Over defense counsel's continuing objection, Mr. Gould's former girlfriend, K [REDACTED] K [REDACTED] testified that eleven months previously in November of 1985, she and her child were living with Mr. Gould. (R151) On November 21, she came home and could tell Mr. Gould had been drinking, but was not intoxicated. (R152) She and Mr. Gould had been fighting during the day; and earlier, she had hung up on him. Mr. Gould wanted to talk and she refused. (R169-173)

Ms. K [REDACTED] went into the bedroom and Mr. Gould dragged her into the living room, pushed her into a chair, and began yelling at her. (R154-155) He then returned her to the bedroom where he handcuffed her and tied her legs with strips of cloth. (R155-156) Mr. Gould then got a sword, a pocket knife, and a hatchet, and at one point threatened to kill her if she made noise. (R157) Mr. Gould cut off a piece of her hair with a knife and threatened to cut off her legs. (R159-160) Mr. Gould then untied Ms. K [REDACTED] and

they sat and talked. (R164) Mr. Gould ate, then went to bed. (R164) Ms. K [REDACTED] got her child and went to the police, where she was interviewed by Officer Rickus. (R165,192) Rickus interviewed Mr. Gould who stated that he and Ms. K [REDACTED] had argued and he had tied her. (R245-246) He might have slapped or threatened her. (R246)

Mr. K [REDACTED] was not sexually assaulted on November 231. She also stated that she had allowed Mr. Gould to restrain her previously as part of their sexual relationship. The weapons, restraints, and photos of Ms. K [REDACTED] were admitted into evidence over defense counsel's objection. (R156,196-198,248)

Defense counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal, arguing the evidence showed Ms. S [REDACTED] was not physically helpless as defined under section 794.011, Florida Statutes (1986). The motion was denied. The court, the State, and defense counsel agreed the only applicable lesser included offense to Counts II and III, sexual battery on a physically helpless victim, was simple battery under the Schedule of Necessary Included Offenses. (R284-286) Defense counsel requested that other lessers be given on the counts, but the court specifically denied that request. (R286) The jury was instructed on Counts II and III as charged and instructed the only applicable lesser was simple battery. (R367,368,372,375, 440-444)

Mr. Gould was found guilty as charged on all counts. (R439-447) On October 26, 1987, Petitioner was sentenced to 27 years incarceration. (R401,453-467) The recommended guidelines

indicated a presumptive sentence of 22 to 27 years incarceration. (R468) On October 28, 1987, Petitioner timely filed a notice of appeal. (R469)

Petitioner's brief was filed in the Second District on May 17, 1989, and the State's response was filed on June 22, 1989. (See Appendix A) On October 16, 1989, the Second District ordered supplemental briefs to be filed addressing the applicability of section 924.34, Florida Statutes (1985) to the instant case. (See Appendix B) Those supplemental briefs were filed by Petitioner on November 14, 1989, and by the State on November 16, 1989. (Appendix C)

On March 14, 1990, the Second District issued an opinion in Petitioner's case. Mr. Gould's convictions for kidnapping, three counts of sexual battery, and simple battery were affirmed. The court reversed Mr. Gould's convictions on Counts II and III by utilizing section 924.34, Florida Statutes (1987).

Petitioner appealed to this Court for review and filed a jurisdictional brief on April 5, 1990. On July 19, 1990, this Court granted review.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I: Section 924.34, Florida Statutes (1987) cannot be used to direct a conviction for sexual battery against Petitioner as defined in section 794.011(5), Florida Statutes (1985), be entered against Petitioner because sexual battery is not a degree offense and because it is not a necessarily lesser included offense to sexual battery under section 794.011(4)(a), Florida Statutes (1987). Neither may sexual battery subsection (5) be a Category 2 permissive lesser in the instant case, as the pleadings do not support the charge.

Due process, as provided by both the federal and state constitutions, which guarantee an accused the right to notice of a criminal charge and trial upon that charge if desired, prohibits the entering of a judgment against Petitioner for sexual battery using physical force and violence not likely to cause serious personal injury when Petitioner was charged with a sexual battery on a physically helpless victim and no instruction or verdict was made available to the jury for the offense of sexual battery using force and violence not likely to cause serious personal injury.

Issue II: The failure of the trial court to give a Category 1 or a Category 11 lesser instruction is reversible error requiring a new trial. It is not an appropriate remedy for the appellate court to enter a judgment for the lesser offense.

Issue III: The appellate court is precluded from assuming the role of the State in determining what offense Petitioner should have been tried upon and directing a judgment be

entered for that offense. The State, by failing to file an information alleging sexual battery with physical force and violence not likely to cause serious personal injury and successfully objecting to the giving of a jury instruction or verdict form to the jury on that charge, waived its right to a conviction for that offense.

Issue IV: A judgment of acquittal should have been granted on the count of kidnapping due to the failure of the evidence to establish that the movement to the bathroom or confinement therein was anything other than incidental to the sexual batteries.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN ITS APPLICATION OF SECTION 924.34, FLORIDA STATUTES (1987), VIOLATED THE DUE PROCESS OF RIGHTS OF PETITIONER AS GUARANTEED BY THE 5TH AND 14TH AMENDMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE XIV OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Petitioner, Gary Gould, has been deprived one of our most fundamental freedoms -- the right to a trial by jury and an opportunity to defend against a criminal charge by the ruling of the Second District Court of Appeal. In its application of section 924.34, Florida Statutes (1987), the Second District held that an appellate court may "examine the evidence presented in a criminal trial and make its own independent evaluation of that evidence" and then enter a conviction against a defendant regardless of the proceedings of the trial court.

In the instant case, Petitioner was charged with 2 counts of sexual battery on a physically helpless victim, T█████ S█████, contrary to section 784.011(4)(a), Florida Statutes (1986). At trial, the evidence presented established that Ms. S█████ was not physically helpless, nevertheless, the trial court denied a motion for judgment of acquittal. Defense counsel, the State Attorney, and the trial court then discussed which lesser included offenses the jury would be instructed on. All were in agreement that the only lesser provided for under the Schedule of Necessary Lesser Included Offenses was simple battery. (R284-286) Defense counsel

specifically requested that other lessers, including sexual battery as defined by section 794.011(5), Florida Statutes (1987) be given. The State objected to the giving of any lessers other than simple battery, and defense counsel's request was denied by the court. (R286) The jury was instructed only on the charged offense and simple battery. (R367-368,372,375,440,444) The facts of the instant case do not support the entry of a conviction for sexual battery by the Second District under the auspices of section 924.34, Florida Statutes (1987) because sexual battery is not a degree crime nor is subsection (5) a necessarily lesser included offense, and such an act violates the principal of due process.

A. Inapplicability of Section 924.34, Florida Statutes (1987)

Section 924.34, Florida Statutes (1987) provides that:

When the appellate court determines that the evidence does not prove the offense for which the defendant was found guilty, but does establish his guilt of a lesser statutory degree of the offense or a lesser offense necessarily included in the offense charged, the appellate court shall reverse the judgment and direct the trial court to enter a judgment for the lesser degree of the offense or for the lesser included offense.

The offenses of sexual battery as defined by section 794.011, Florida Statutes (1985), do not meet either alternative of section 924.34, Florida Statutes (1987).

The first instance when section 924.34, Florida Statutes (1987) may be used deals with offenses divided into statutory degrees. Sexual battery is not divided into degrees, but rather into different level felonies by such determining factors as the age, physical and mental condition of the victim, and by the amount

of force used by the perpetrator; but there is no such thing as first, second, or third degree sexual battery. Homicide, arson, and theft are examples of crimes defined by statutory degree. The decision of this Court in Brown v. State, 206 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1968), supports this result -- that sexual battery is not a degree offense; and this was correctly interpreted by the Second District to exclude sexual battery as defined under section 794.011(5), Florida Statutes (1985), as a possible conviction which could be entered against Petitioner. Thus, section 924.37, Florida Statutes (1987) is not applicable under subsection (1).

The second alternative available under section 294.34, Florida Statutes (1987), permits the appellate court to direct that a conviction be entered for a necessarily lesser included offense if the evidence supports the necessarily lesser included offense. The schedule of lesser offenses pertinent to sexual battery lists only simple battery as a Category 1 necessary lesser included offense of sexual battery as defined in subsection (4)(a). Sexual battery subsection (5) is listed as a permissive lesser offense included provided the evidence and pleadings support its being given.

In order to determine if sexual battery subsection (5) is a necessary included lesser offense to subsection (4)(a), the elements of each must be examined. A necessary lesser included offense is one in which "the burden of proof of the major crime cannot be discharged without the proving of the lesser crime as an essential link in the chain of evidence." Brown, supra at 382.

The elements of sexual battery under subsection (4)(a) are: (1) that a sexual battery be committed [sexual battery is defined by section 1(h) as "oral, anal, or vaginal penetration by or union with, the sexual organ of another, or the anal or vaginal penetration of another by any object"]; (2) that the act was not consented to; and (3) that the victim was physically helpless to resist. Conversely, sexual battery under subsection (5) requires proof of (1) a sexual battery (2) without consent and (3) the use of physical force and violence by the perpetrator not likely to cause serious personal injury. Because subsection (5) requires proof of one element that subsection 4(a) does not -- the use of force not likely to cause serious personal injury -- it cannot be said that subsection (5) is a necessarily lesser included offense.

See Brown, supra.

Under subsection 1(h), the definition of sexual battery does not require the act to involve any degree of force whatsoever -- it merely requires union or penetration with a sexual organ. Under subsection (5), sexual battery clearly contemplates the use of some force and violence beyond that encompassed in the actual act itself while subsection 4(a) does not require any additional force beyond that needed to achieve the union or penetration which defines a sexual battery. The argument is supported by the Florida Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, which did not adopt sexual battery (5) as a necessarily included lesser offense in Category 1.

This interpretation is not unique to sexual battery as an analogous situation is present in the crimes of robbery and theft. It has been held that there must be force beyond that actually needed to take possession of an article during a theft in order to elevate the crime to a robbery. See Walker v. State, 546 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989); Santiago v. State, 497 So.2d 975 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). Every sexual contact in Florida, is by definition, a sexual battery. What makes the act criminal is the age of the victim, the lack of consent, the physical or mental condition of the victim, or the amount of force beyond that actually required to perform the union or penetration, either likely or unlikely to cause serious personal injury.

In Grange v. State, 371 So.2d 723 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979), the district court determined that sexual battery under subsection (5) was not a necessary lesser included offense to sexual battery as defined by section 794.011(4)(b), Florida Statutes (1977), under a similar analysis. The court ruled that since there was no element of force likely to cause serious personal injury in the lesser offense, the major offense was not dependent upon proof of the lesser to establish that the crime was committed. The court ordered that a discharge on the count in question be entered.

As in Grange, the proof of a sexual battery under subsection (4)(a) is not dependent upon the proof of subsection (5) to establish that the crime occurred because of the additional element of force present in subsection (5).

The Second District reliance on Gallo v. State, 491 So.2d 541 (Fla. 1989) is misplaced. In Gallo, an instruction was given on sexual battery subsection (5) when the charged offense was not sexual battery subsection (5), but rather some other type of unnamed sexual battery. This Court affirmed and held that the instruction was proper.

The Schedule of Lessers does permit the giving of an instruction on subsection (5) as a Category 2 lesser to all of the other sexual battery subsections, including subsection 4(a). However, in order to qualify as a needed instruction under Category 2, the accusatory pleading and the evidence must support the giving of the instruction. It is likely in Gallo that the instruction was approved as a Category 2 lesser after it was determined that both the information and evidence supported the charge. The information filed against the Petitioner does not support the giving of a Category 2 lesser as it fails to allege the element that physical force and violence not likely to cause serious personal injury was used in the commission of Counts II and III. Thus, Gallo cannot be used to necessarily support the giving of an instruction on subsection (5) in this case and then using that conclusion to permit the Second District to utilize section 924.34, Florida Statutes (1987), to enter a conviction against Mr. Gould for sexual battery subsection (5). Thus, the Second District was incorrect in determining that subsection (5) was a necessarily lesser included offense because it requires proof of a element subsection 4(a) does

not and, therefore, the second avenue under section 924.34, Florida Statutes (1987) is not available in the instant case.

B. Constitutional Considerations

Even if subsection (5) were a necessary lesser, in the instant case the entry of a judgment against Petitioner for sexual battery under subsection (5) cannot be done by an appellate court. To do so violates the most fundamental component of due process as guaranteed to all citizens by the Fifth Amendments to the United States Constitution -- that a person may not be convicted of a crime that he has not been charged with or had the opportunity to defend against at a trial before a jury, should he so desire. The opinion of the Second District ignores the principal that notice of a specific charge and the chance to be heard at trial belong to every accused in all courts, state and federal.

The Office of the State Attorney elected, by the filing of an information, to charge Petitioner Gould with 2 counts of sexual battery on a physically helpless victim. The State further chose not to charge Mr. Gould on those two counts, in the alternative, with sexual battery by use of physical force and violence not likely to cause serious personal injury. It could have done so by the mere addition of that language to the information. Petitioner then proceeded to trial, defending against the charge that Ms. Slezak was physically helpless. Petitioner sought an instruction on sexual battery (5) and the State objected, obviously wishing for a conviction of a more serious felony and believing that it was unlikely that a jury would convict Petitioner of only simple

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