## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OCT 12 1990

Deputy Clerk

GARY GOULD,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 75,833

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, STATE OF FLORIDA

## BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN A. BAKER Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0365645
Westwood Center
2002 N. Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

/aoh

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellee relies on the additional facts as follows:

hands were taped so that she could not resist Appellant's sexual attacks (R. 37, 38). Her limbs were tied with bed sheets to various bathroom fixtures so that Appellant would have unfettered access to her vagina and anus (R. 42, 43, 44). She was bound so tightly that her hands turned purple (R. 45). She testified that she could not move while she was bound (R. 43). During further sexual and physical batteries, her hands were again retied behind her back (R. 50). She was unable to resist appellant's oral sex acts while tied up on the bed (R. 53).

Though Appellant had been drinking when he attacked K

K he had not imbibed to the point of intoxication (R. 152,
153). Appellant forced K into another room in order to
beat and bind her (R. 154). Ms. K into another room in order to
asleep when Appellant attacked K (R. 155). Appellant tied
her up in order to render her incapable of resisting his threats
and blows (R. 155). He tied K is limbs to fixtures on a bed
(R. 156). He threatened K with a knife, a sword, and a
hatchet (R. 157, 158, 160). Appellant cut a clump of her hair
off (R. 159). He hit and punched K against her will.
After it was all over, he fell asleep (R. 165).

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant fails to recognize that Category II lesser included offenses can indeed become necessarily lesser included offenses, depending upon the pleadings and the facts adduced at trial. He waived any argument that 794.011(5) is not a lesser included offense of 794.011(4)(a) in this case because he requested the same be given as a lesser included offense instruction at trial.

The Second District did not base its decision to apply Section 924.34 to the instant case based upon any notion that the sexual battery statute is somehow laid out in terms of degree of the crime. Accordingly, his argument on this point is mere dicta.

The application of 924.34 does not deny Appellant due process inasmuch as he was prepared to try his case on the basis of subsection (5), from the outset. There is no reason he needs to be retried on the very same facts if he was willing to be convicted under subsection (5) in the first place.

There was no need to remand this case for retrial simply because the district court found subsection (5) to be a necessarily lesser included offense of the crime originally charged. Section 924.34 allowed the appellate court to take an independent look at the evidence in order to determine whether entry of judgment on a lesser offense was warranted. Because

Appellant never challenged the denial of his proposed lesser included offense instruction's, he should be barred from relying on such an argument herein.

Appellant has no standing to argue that the district court preempted the State's right to decide whether and how to prosecute him.

Appellant's conviction for kidnapping is valid because his movement and confinement of Tracey Slezak made the crime substantially easier to commit. He didn't just abuse her where he found her. He forced her to move so that he could commit his atrocious acts with greater ease.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### ISSUE I

WHETHER THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN ITS APPLICATION OF SECTION 924.34, FLORIDA STATUTES (1987), VIOLATED THE DUE PROCESS OF RIGHTS OF PETITIONER AS GUARANTEED BY THE 5TH AND 14TH AMENDMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE XIV OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Petitioner, Gary Gould, has had a full and fair opportunity to litigate all issues, at the trial level, that he claims prohibit the district court from finding him guilty of the lesser included offense of sexual battery with force not likely to cause serious personal injury. He bases the instant Petition on several assumptions that appear to totally ignore the Second District's reasoning and are blind to his own posture at trial.

Petitioner begins with a <u>non sequitur</u> at the very premise of his argument. He claims that the district court could not have convicted him of sexual battery under Section 794.011(5), Florida Statutes because sexual battery is not a degree crime and is not a necessarily lesser included offense of sexual battery under Section 794.011(4)(a). Yet, in the same breath, he strives to point out that he had implored the trial court to give subsection (5) as part of the "other lesser's". Accordingly, he defeats his own argument inasmuch as he has already conceded, at the trial level, that, under the facts of this case, sexual battery with physical force and violence not likely to cause serious personal injury is indeed a "lesser included offense" of sexual battery

on a victim (Tracey Slezak) who is physically helpless to resist. In short, he cannot have it both ways.

The Second District recognized that necessarily included lesser offenses are "[0]ffenses which may or may not be included in the offense charged, depending on the accusatory pleading and the evidence. . . ". See Comment on Schedule of Lesser Included They do not have to be Category I necessarily lesser Offenses. included offenses. This Court recognized the same in Gallo v. State, 491 So.2d 541 (Fla. 1986). Though Appellant cites to Brown v. State, 206 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1968) for the proposition that one offense cannot be a lesser included offense of the other if one requires proof of an element that the other does not, he still seems unable to grasp the concept, on appeal, that the evidence adduced at trial may indeed make an otherwise noninclusive offense into a necessarily inclusive one. That he grasped such a concept at trial by requesting subsection (5) as a lesser only serves to demonstrate that the facts, as he observed them unfold at trial, fully support the district court's decision to convict him of sexual battery with physical force and violence not likely to cause serious personal injury.

Appellant further belabors a brick wall distinction between the two offense by arguing that the information does not support a conviction for a subsection (5) sexual battery. Once again, he should not be heard to complain. If anything, he acquiesced in any alleged defect in the information by failing to object to the same at trial and he simply compounded his acquiescence by specifically requesting subsection (5) be given as a lesser included offense. Thus, the test should be one based upon the law of variance between the proof and accusatory pleading. Appellant should be called upon to demonstrate that he was deprived of "fair notice sufficient to enable him to prepare his defense". United States v. Lambert, 501 F.2d 943 (5th Cir. 1974). See also United States v. Prince, 883 F.2d 953 (11th Cir. 1989), standard of review is whether a material variance did indeed occur, and, second, whether the defendant suffered substantial prejudice as a result of the variance. Herein, he waived any variance by requesting subsection (5). Accordingly, he cannot possibly claim any prejudice if, after appeal, he got exactly what he wanted in the first place! Contra, see Falstreau v. State, 326 So.2d 194 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976).

Probably the most overlooked point in his entire appeal is the very facts of the case. He simply cannot come to grips with the utterly overwhelming, if not sickening scenario of his sexual attack on Tracey Slezak. Indeed, even the most rational fact finder would be able to agree that the force and violence he employed might very well give rise to a conviction under 794.011(4)(b); coercion by threatening to use force or violence likely to cause serious personal injury. The Second District did not "buy" the argument that the egregious facts below do not, at the very least, constitute a subsection (4)(a) sexual battery. This Court should not indulge the same.

Next, Appellant argues that section 924.34 is inapplicable to his case because the sexual battery statute is not laid out in terms of degrees. Indeed, the Second District agreed with Appellant, and this Court, that the various levels of sexual battery are not currently divided into degrees of the crime (as opposed to degrees of felony) and declined to so hold. supra. However, the legislature chose to write 924.34 in the disjunctive, leaving an appellate court free to reconvict an Appellant if the contemplated crime is of a lesser statutory degree or is a necessarily lesser included offense. The district court imposed the operation of 924.34 on the latter basis. Unless this Court is willing to overrule Brown legislature, Appellant's argument on this point should be deemed dicta.

Finally Appellant lodges a constitutional challenge to the operation of 924.34 claiming that he was denied due process by not having the opportunity to have the resulting charge tried before a jury. He claims that "[I]f an instruction had been given on subsection (5), Petitioner would have received a trial on all charges and would have had a jury consider that charge also". He further asserts that if the jury would have been so instructed, he may have been the benefactor of a "jury pardon". Obviously, to a fault, Appellant had it well in mind to go to trial with all of his proposed lesser's in mind, including subsection (5). The ironic conclusion of his argument is equally as obvious - had he been convicted at trial of sexual battery

under subsection (5) he would have nothing to complain about, yet, on appeal, his conviction by way of 924.23 would be unconstitutional. Appellant did not challenge the trial court's denial of his proposed lesser on direct appeal. He cannot do so now by way of a constitutional challenge. See Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982). With his lesser's in mind at trial, he had the full and fair opportunity to seek a "jury pardon" by offering evidence that his brutality was not likely to cause any injury at all. Moreover, for the jury to have "pardoned" him would have been a miscarriage of justice. Accordingly, his due process claims are without merit.

## ISSUE II

WHETHER SECTION 924.34 ALLOWS AN APPELLATE COURT TO DIRECT THE LOWER COURT TO ENTER JUDGMENT ON A LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE BASED UPON ITS OWN INDEPENDENT EVALUATION OF THE RECORD?

For his next issue, Appellant claims that once the district court found 794.011(5) to be a necessarily lesser included offense of 794.011(4)(a), it should have remanded the case for retrial. Because the trial court failed to instruct (5), Appellant further subsection claims that such fundamental error requiring nothing short of reversal and remand. However, if indeed he felt so strongly about the trial court's denial of his proposed lesser, then he should have raised the issue on direct appeal.

This Honorable Court sits in review of the district court's decision just as the district court has sat in review of the trial court's decisions. The district court, sua sponta, took up the issue of applying 924.34 to the facts of this case. Appellant below lodged no appellate attack on the issue of failure to give jury instructions on lesser included offenses. Accordingly, he should not be allowed to complain at this stage of the proceedings. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982).

Moreover, Appellant cannot cite, and Appellee cannot find, any decision holding that failure to instruct on a later recognized lesser included offense at trial precludes the

application of 924.34. (However, see Suarez v. State, 136 So.2d 367 (Fla. 1st DCA 1962) wherein other errors may preclude the application of 924.34). The Second District below reasoned that 924.34 "permits the appellate court to look directly to the evidence and make its own independent evaluation of evidence". Nothing in the language of the statute dictates a contrary legislative intent. To interpret the statute differently would surely defeat the purpose of having appellate court accomplish all that could be accomplished by the trial court, absent the time, expense, (and often heartache) of a new trial that would invariably be nothing more than a rehash of the same evidence adduced at the first trial.

Finally, Appellant has already gotten what he wanted at trial. He wanted an instruction on subsection (5). He is currently convicted under said section. He should not have another shot at acquittal where, as here, the very same evidence, unquestionably, makes out a case for guilt beyond any reasonable doubt. Moreover, he cannot be heard to argue that retrial is necessary so that he can better prepare a defense against a subsection (5) charge. After all, he originally went to trial with subsection (5) in mind. Ergo, to let him retry his case would be tantamount to giving the defendant another trial just so he can get it right the second time after first having had a "practice run" in the very same trial courtroom.

#### ISSUE III

APPELLANT HAS NO STANDING TO ARGUE THAT THE DISTRICT COURT PREEMPTED THE STATE'S EXECUTIVE DISCRETION TO PROSECUTE APPELLANT.

Appellant claims that the state's right to decide what charges it will bring has been preempted by the district court's application of 924.34. He asserts that the state forfeited its right to gain conviction under subsection (5). Appellee queries how Appellant can argue such a point on behalf of the state when, in fact, he is not the state. He has no standing to assert such a claim.

In <u>Wilcott v. State</u>, 509 So.2d 261 (Fla. 1987), Justice Shaw indicated by way of a dissenting opinion that:

Under Florida's constitution, the decision to charge and prosecute is an executive responsibility, and the state attorney has complete discretion in deciding whether and how to prosecute.

Moreover,

. . . article II, section 3 of the Florida Constitution prohibits the judiciary from interfering with this kind of discretionary executive function of a prosecutor.

Herein, though the state might have wanted an "all or nothing" verdict at trial, it is the operation of statute that has brought about the instant conviction. The state, pursuant to its executive power, has not appealed that decision. Therefore, Appellant cannot stand in the state's shoes and, somehow, assert a right that the state has chosen not to exercise.

## ISSUE IV

APPELLANT WAS CONVICTED OF KIDNAPPING BECAUSE HIS FORCEFULL MOVEMENT OF THE VICTIM MADE IT EASIER FOR HIM TO COMMIT SEXUAL BATTERY.

For the sake of brevity, clarity and uniformity, Respondent relies on the arguments made in Issue III of its responsive brief below and further relies on the reasoning of the district court, both found herein in Petitioner's Appendix. Said argument is laid out below for the benefit of this Court.

#### ISSUE III

THE FORCIBLE MOVEMENT OF TRACEY SLEZAK WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN A CONVICTION FOR KIDNAPPING BECAUSE THE MOVEMENT MADE THE COMMISSION OF THE OTHER CRIMES SUBSTANTIALLY EASIER TO COMMIT.

Appellant has conveniently overlooked the last portion of the three pronged test found in <u>Ferguson v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 763 (Fla. 1988) which indicates that, for kidnapping, the movement or confinement must have some significance independent of the other crime in that it makes the other crime <u>substantially easier</u> to <u>commit</u>.

Sub judice, Appellant forced Ms. Slezak to hop to the bathroom. Thereafter, he proceeded to tie her limbs to various bathroom fixtures so that he could forcibly shove foreign objects into her sexual and anal cavities without physical opposition. It is painfully obvious that, by binding her limbs to various

bathroom fixtures, it was much easier for Appellant to carry out such atrocious acts. That he ultimately performed oral sex upon Tracey Slezak while she was confined to a bed is of no particular moment. Though Appellant could have performed the same acts upon her in the bedroom does not detract from the plain fact that the initial movement to the bathroom and confinement therein made the crimes perpetrated while in the bathroom easier to commit.

In Robinson v. State, 462 So.2d 471 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), a sexual battery victim was already inside a car when the crime took place. The vehicle was not used to transport involuntarily, to a place where she could more easily be attacked or where the risk of detection would have been reduced. willingly drove with the perpetrator to a spot where, thereafter, the crime took place. Thus, the confinement to the car was only a natural incident of the sex crime. In the instant case, Appellant deliberately forced Ms. Slezak, against her will, into a place of confinement that made the sexual and other batteries easier to commit. He did not have to move her to the bathroom, but, he did so for the sole purpose of providing anchor points to which she could be bound. Unlike the situation in Robinson, Appellant chose not to commit his acts simply where he found his victim. Rather, he moved her so that his crimes were rendered easier to commit. Accordingly, the movement and confinement caused by Appellant was not inconsequential and was not inherent in the crimes of sexual battery.

## CONCLUSION

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